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Number 26             NEWSLETTER      Spring 2023 

  £1.00 (free to CHS members) 

Forthcoming Talks                              See a full list at www.chingfordhistory.org.uk 

23rd March ς Underground guide to London place names - Talk by Nick Dobson. 
Followed by AGM  

20th April ς Crowning  Glory (The Coronation) - Talk by Julie Chandler  

18th May -  Commonwealth War Graves Commission ς Talk by Brian Wingate 

15th June ς Medical Officer of Health Reports (Chingford) - Talk by Ross 
MacFarlane  

20th July ς Memories of The Windmill Theatre - Talk by Jill Millard Shapiro 

21st September ς The River Roding - Talk by Janet Seward  

FROM THE EDITOR 
Welcome to this edition of the CHS newsletter as we look forward to spring 
with our upcoming monthly talks, attendance at events and a guided visit (tba). 
 

A small team of the committee led by David Boote are busy sifting and 
cataloguing our archives at the hub in readiness for digitising. The aim is to give 
access to our archives to members and the wider community. 
 

Thank you for your continued support - Gary Stone 
 

Interact with us on the following platforms: 

 
  @Chingfordhist 
 
 @Chingfordhistorical 
 
  Chingford Historical Society 
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The Lost Farm - by John Conen 

Folly Farm does not appear in the 

ǎƻŎƛŜǘȅΩǎ ōƻƻƪ ƻn Chingford 

Farms, possibly because it was 

thought to be in Walthamstow, 

but also because it had a rather 

ǎƘƻǊǘ ŜȄƛǎǘŜƴŎŜΦ LΩǾŜ ƳŀƴŀƎŜŘ ǘƻ 

unearth some information about 

Folly Farm, mainly from local 

newspapers, and as can be seen 

ƛǘΩǎ ƴƻǘ ŀ ǾŜǊȅ ǇƭŜŀǎŀƴǘ tale!  

Until 1927, Hall Lane, once called Chingford Hall Lane or Chingfordhall Lane, was a 

quiet country road leading to Chingford Hall and the toll bridge over the Lea, 

which was only made free of toll in 1878. Folly Lane, then largely uninhabited, 

branched off and went south to Higham Hill but neither this nor Hall Lane itself 

were anything other than minor roads. Folly Farm was situated on the west side 

of Folly Lane, but within the Chingford boundary. When the Lea Valley Viaduct 

and the North Circular Road were constructed in 1927, Folly Farm was left on the 

edge of the new road, and Folly Lane between Hall Lane and the North Circular 

Road was incorporated into Hall Lane. The redundant stretch of Hall Lane leading 

to Chingford Hall and the toll bridge was renamed Lower Hall Lane in 1934. 

Folly Farm does not seem to be of ancient origin and was probably built around 

1900. It is not shown on the 1896 Ordnance Survey map and it does not appear in 

trade directories or in censuses before 1911. There are no local newspaper 

ǊŜŦŜǊŜƴŎŜǎ ōŜŦƻǊŜ мфлпΣ ŀƭǘƘƻǳƎƘ ƛƴ !ǳƎǳǎǘ мфло ǘƘŜǊŜ ƛǎ ŀ ǊŜŦŜǊŜƴŎŜ ǘƻ Ψ¢ƘŜ 

tƛƎƎŜǊƛŜǎΩ ǿƘŜƴ WƻƘƴ !ƭƭǳƳ ƘŀŘ ƛƴǎǘǊǳŎǘŜŘ ǎŀƭŜ ōȅ ŀǳŎǘƛƻƴ ƻŦ ƭƛǾŜǎǘƻŎƪ ŀƴŘ 

equipment because he was 

going abroad. However, in 

1910 Mr Allum was again 

auctioning livestock and 

equipment, because he was 

disposing of his milk business 

ς the Chingford Hall Dairy. 

Some stock belonging to Mr F 

W Brown was also included, Map 1913   

Folly Farm 1927   
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as well as various items of equipment and transport. This and the location given 

όΨōŜǘǿŜŜƴ /ƘƛƴƎŦƻǊŘ aƛƭƭ ŀƴŘ IƛƎƘŀƳ IƛƭƭΩύ ƛƴŘƛŎŀǘŜǎ ǘƘŀǘ ǘƘŜ ŘŀƛǊȅ ǿŀǎ ŀǘ Cƻƭƭȅ 

Farm.  

Lƴ мфлпΣ /ƘƛƴƎŦƻǊŘ ¦Ǌōŀƴ 5ƛǎǘǊƛŎǘ /ƻǳƴŎƛƭΩǎ ǎŀƴƛǘŀǊȅ ƛƴǎǇŜŎǘƻǊ ǾƛǎƛǘŜŘ Cƻƭƭȅ CŀǊƳΣ 

which was said to be used for pig rearing. The farm had been flooded, and the 

overflow from the piggeries had polluted two wells on the farm and rendered the 

water totally unfit for domestic use. Harris & Bull of Walthamstow, 

estate/property agents, were summoned before the magistrates, so it appears 

they were handling the renting out of the farm. It is not known who the owner 

was at this time. In 1903 there was widespread flooding in the London area 

following a period of exceptionally heavy rain in June that year. 

Frank William Brown was 

born in Salisbury, 

Wiltshire, in 1861. He is 

first mentioned in January 

1907 when he was 

described as a cattle 

dealer living at Folly Farm. 

He is not listed in the 

census locally in 1901. His 

connection to Folly Farm 

is complicated and it is not clear if he ever owned the farm. He was somewhat 

troublesome to the authorities; under his stewardship the farm suffered 

outbreaks of swine fever in 1907 and 1910, and he was fined for unlicensed 

slaughter of cattle in 1919. The farm was often the subject of complaints about 

foul smells. In 1923 Chingford UDC had to take action in the High Court to stop the 

ΨƻŦŦŜƴǎƛǾŜ ǘǊŀŘŜΩ ƻŦ ōƻƴŜ ōƻƛƭƛƴƎ ŎŀǊǊƛŜŘ ƻǳǘ ŀǘ Cƻƭƭȅ CŀǊƳΦ aǊ .Ǌƻǿƴ ŀƭǎƻ ŎŀǊǊƛŜŘ 

out fat boiling which also must have been pretty offensive and was raised as a 

ŎƻƴŎŜǊƴ ōȅ ǘƘŜ ŎƻǳƴŎƛƭΩǎ aŜŘƛŎŀƭ hŦŦƛŎŜǊ ƻŦ IŜŀƭǘƘ ƛƴ мфмуΦ Lƴ мфлу ǘƘŜǊŜ was an 

appalling case of child neglect taken to court by the NSPCC. A family with five 

children was found in filthy conditions in a disused cattle shed near Folly Farm. Mr 

Brown had permitted the family to use the derelict building.  

There are no entries in the 1921 Census for Folly Lane, Chingford. Mr Brown was 

not actually resident at the farm until 1923; prior to that he was on the electoral 

register at Bulls Farm in Billet Road and/or at 6 Manor Road, Higham Hill. In 

Map 1936   
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1920/1921 he was on the electoral rŜƎƛǎǘŜǊ ŀǘ Cƻƭƭȅ CŀǊƳ ōǳǘ Ƙƛǎ ΨŀōƻŘŜΩ ǿŀǎ 

stated to be Bulls Farm, Higham Hill.  

Frank Brown died 15 February 1926 when resident at Folly Farm. His effects came 

to £7,287 and he left a widow, Mary. Folly Farm is not listed in the electoral 

register aŦǘŜǊ .ǊƻǿƴΩǎ ŘŜŀǘƘΦ Lǘ ǎŜŜƳǎ ƛǘ ǿŀǎ ƭŀǘŜǊ ǊŜƴŀƳŜŘ ±ƛŀŘǳŎǘ CŀǊƳΣ ŀƴŘ ƛǘǎ 

address was given as the North Circular Road. Lea Valley Products Ltd (waste 

products merchants) were established in the Viaduct works, with a cottage 

attached which may have been once part of Folly Farm ς it was inhabited 

ŀŎŎƻǊŘƛƴƎ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ ŜƭŜŎǘƻǊŀƭ Ǌƻƭƭ ƻŦ мфом ŀƴŘ ǘƘŜ мфоф YŜƭƭȅΩǎ ōǳǘ ƴƻǘ ǘƘŜ мфоф 

wŜƎƛǎǘŜǊΦ ¢ƘŜ ǎƛǘŜ ǿŀǎ ƭŀǘŜǊ ƻŎŎǳǇƛŜŘ ōȅ {ƘŀŘōƻƭǘΩǎ ό±ŜƴŜŜǊǎύ ŦǊƻƳ мфптΣ ŀƴŘ ƛǘ 

seems that by then all the old buildings including the cottage had gone. 

The address of the Viaduct works and cottage was North Circular Road, so as far 

as Chingford was concerned, Folly Lane no longer existed as an address. No good 

photographs of Folly Farm can be traced but the farm can be partially seen on 

Aerofilms footage in 1927 and in photographs of the viaduct construction the 

same year. Folly Lane was a rather lonely and desolate place after World War 2. I 

remember that it was blocked off so traffic could no longer go through to Higham 

Hill, as is the case to this day.  

If anyone can add anything to this research, John would like to hear from you via 

CHS. 

North Circular Viaduct 1927  

CookΩs Ferry  

Hall Lane  

Chingford 
Hall  

Folly Farm  
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Life & Times of Clara Culpin  - Extracts by Dave Branchflower  
 
The name Culpin is unusual, and its origin is 
obscure. There may be a possible Huguenot link. 
However, it appears in several Chingford 
IƛǎǘƻǊƛŎŀƭ {ƻŎƛŜǘȅΩǎ ǇǳōƭƛŎŀǘƛƻƴǎΣ ŜǎǇŜŎƛŀƭƭȅ ǘƘƻǎŜ 
about Chingford Hall, the mill and the pumping 
station. 
Times could be hard for our ancestors as they 
tried to improve their lives. This led to 
considerable movements from rural populations 
to urban areas in the 1800s and 1900s. 
Agriculture as an occupation was becoming 
insecure as it was rapidly changing to part time as 
mechanisation was adopted. Towns and cities 
seemed to be more attractive with better housing 
and more jobs as the industrial revolution 
advanced. Transport was also rapidly developing via the canals, then the railways 
followed by motorised vehicles. However, many families found this not to be the 
answer to their problems and finished in worse conditions. 
 
In the 1891 census a Henry Culpin, aged 67, appears as a water sluice man at 
Chingford Hall mill. He controlled the sluice gates to make certain the mill had a 
good regular supply of water. However, the mill had been demolished in 1886 by 
the East London Water Board, who now owned it. They had sunk a well and 
deepened and widened the mill race to accommodate a pump house. In 1896 a 
brick pumping station was built. This was to accommodate the greater need for 
water as the population grew in East London. 
 
Clara Culpin was IŜƴǊȅΩǎ daughter-in-law. Born in Marylebone in 1861, she was 
the 3rd child, all daughters, of Elizabeth Sutton and Henry Walker. Sadly her father 
was to die before she was 10 years old. However, her mother quickly remarried a 
James Wilson. The family moved across London to Bromley-by-Bow. 
 
Here she met the young Thomas Culpin, born 1859, the son of the 
aforementioned, Henry Culpin. In about 1850 the Culpins had originally come to 
London (Deptford) from a small hamlet, Castor, in Northants. 
 

Clara Culpin   
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¢ƘƻƳŀǎ ŀƴŘ /ƭŀǊŀ ƳŀǊǊƛŜŘ ŀǘ {ǘΦ tŜǘŜǊΩǎ /ƘǳǊŎƘΣ ²ŀƭǘƘŀƳǎǘƻǿ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ тth August 
1887, before living in Apsley Road, Walthamstow. He was working for the ELWB in 
Coppermill Lane, but in the 1901 census is shown as the stationary engine driver 
now at Chingford Hall. 
 

At this time, Chingford was three small settlements 
mostly relying on domestic work and farming as 
sources of income. However, there were a few 
wealthy families living there. The settlements were 
around The Green, the Hatch and along Low Street. 
These were probably on a pilgrim track from 
Waltham Abbey to other abbeys at Stratford and at 
.ŀǊƪƛƴƎΦ !ǘ ǘƘƛǎ ǘƛƳŜ /ƘƛƴƎŦƻǊŘΩǎ ǇƻǇǳƭŀǘƛƻƴ ƻŦ ƭŜǎǎ 
than a thousand, being in Essex, looked more to 
rural Waltham Abbey and Epping than to 
Walthamstow. This was to change firstly in 1878 
when trains started running to Chingford. Despite 
the low population it was an ideal region for money 
to be made in transporting workers to the City 

during weekdays and in bringing visitors to Epping Forest at weekends. This 
accessibility increased in 1905 when trams started to terminate at the Prince 
Albert Pub. 
 
As the developers quickly became interested the farmers were prepared to sell to 
them. The population started to shoot up. Most of the new houses were terraced, 
some were semi-detached and a few were detached. Much of this development 
was between the two world wars, in the thirties. The 1930s saw the biggest 
increase in building and hence the population quickly grew. The peak being in 
1934. By 1939, some 40 years since Clara had come to Chingford, its population 
had grown to over forty thousand. The village was now a town! 
 
Clara was to give birth to seven offspring, but sadly one child did not survive. The 
first living offspring was Minnie Elizabeth born in 1884Φ !ǘ ǘƘŀǘ ǘƛƳŜ /ƘƛƴƎŦƻǊŘΩǎ 
ǇƻǇǳƭŀǘƛƻƴ ǿŀǎ Ƨǳǎǘ моутΣ ŀƴŘ ǿŀǎ ǎǇǊŜŀŘ ŀƭƻƴƎ ǘƘŜ ŜŘƎŜ ƻŦ 9ǇǇƛƴƎ CƻǊŜǎǘΩǎ ƭƻǿŜǊ 
slopes leading to the flood plain of the River Lea. The nearest school was across 
ǘƘŜ [Ŝŀ ƛƴ wŀȅƴƘŀƳ wƻŀŘΣ 9ŘƳƻƴǘƻƴΦ /ƘƛƴƎŦƻǊŘΩǎ {ŎƘƻƻƭΣ ǿƘƛŎƘ ƻǇŜƴŜd in 1876, 
ǿŀǎ ƛƴ YƛƴƎΩǎ wƻŀŘ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ ƴƻǊǘƘŜǊƴ ǇŀǊǘ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ǾƛƭƭŀƎŜΦ aƛƴƴƛŜ ōŜŎŀƳŜ ŀ ǎǘǳŘŜƴǘ 
teacher at Raynham Road, and then a qualified teacher, before gaining various 
headships in Norfolk. 

Thomas Culpin  
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Clara was then to give birth to four boys between 1887 and 1897. World War 1 
was to be devastating to the family, especially Clara, who was to suffer much pain. 
All four sons volunteered, and all of them would be involved in the Great War of 
1914-мфмуΦ aȅ ƳƻǘƘŜǊ ǿŀǎ /ƭŀǊŀΩǎ ƭŀǎǘ ŎƘƛƭŘΣ ōƻǊƴ ƛƴ мфлрΦ 
 
The first boy was Thomas Henry born in 1887.He worked as a financial sub-editor 
for the Glasgow Herald at 33, Old Broad Street. It was 1916 when he enlisted. In 
June 1917 he was sent to Passchendale with the Royal Garrison Artillery. Within 2 
months he received shrapnel wounds to both legs and whilst at the casualty 
clearing station was gassed. He was returned home to be hospitalised for 2 years. 
He had had one leg completely amputated and the ankle of the other removed. 
Despite his poor health, due to his atrocious disability, he returned to work on the 
Glasgow Herald until his death in 1926 from pulmonary tuberculosis. His widow 
ŀǇǇƭƛŜŘ ŦƻǊ ŀ ǿƛŘƻǿΩǎ ǇŜƴǎƛƻƴ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ ƎǊƻǳƴŘǎ ǘƘŀǘ Ƙƛǎ ƛƭƭƴŜǎǎ ƘŀŘ ōŜŜƴ ŎŀǳǎŜŘ ōȅ 
his war service. It was rejected. 
 

/ƭŀǊŀΩǎ ǎŜŎƻƴŘ ǎƻƴ ǿŀǎ !ƭōŜǊt Edward, born in 1890. Since 
leaving school, he had been an employee at Messrs. 
Waterlows and Sons Ltd., printers. He was an active 
member of their sports club opposite the Crooked Billet P. 
H. being awarded a cricket bat as their player of the year. 
He enlisted on the 14th September 1914 in the 7th 
Battalion, the London Regiment. It landed in France in 
March 1915, and first saw action in May 1915. In 
September of the same year it took 
part in the major battles at Loos. This 
was one of the biggest confrontations 
of the War, in which 16,000 died and 

25,000 were wounded among British troops alone. Albert was 
wounded on September 25th as the British advanced. He was 
to die 3 days later in a field hospital and is buried in Noeux-les- 
Mines Cemetery. He is remembered on the War Memorial 
opposite the Parish Church in The Ridgeway. 
 
Stanley John was the next born in 1894. He was just twenty, when he enlisted in 
the Royal Army Service Corps, which was responsible for keeping the British Army 
supplied with provisions, except weapons and ammunitions. He saw service in 
Thessalonika, Greece, in 1917.oHis war area was fought mainly in Serbia, 

Albert Culpin   
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Northern Greece and Bulgaria. He survived 
uninjured but it was believed his breathing 
had been affected as he was prone to fainting 
later in life. He died in 1942 at the Sun Hotel 
Hitchin, where he was the manager. 
 
Then in 1897 the last boy was Frederick 
Corbett. He was the first one to be born at 

the Chingford waterworks. He was just 17 when the war started, and he enlisted 
in March 1915. He was put in a Cycling Corps active in the European sphere. Its 
job was recognisance and communication. It was 
not a combat unit, but only intended for home 
defence. Like many Fred volunteered for overseas 
duty. Fred was to be shot in the chest, by a sniper, 
with the bullet finishing lodged close to his heart.  
 
In those days it was impossible to operate 
ǿƛǘƘƻǳǘ ŎŀǳǎƛƴƎ ǘƘŜ ǾƛŎǘƛƳΩǎ ŘŜŀǘƘΣ ǎƻ CǊŜŘ ǿŀǎ ǘƻ 
lie for 12 months without moving so that the 
bullet became firmly embedded in tissue without 
touching his heart. He and the bullet remained together for evermore! Active 
sport was a no go area so he became a cricket umpire to become well known 

across the cricket communities of Essex and the 
surrounding areas. Late in life he emigrated to 
America to live with two of his daughters, one 
married to an American service man, where he 
died. 
 
Another death, this time by suicide, was the verdict 
ƻŦ ŀ ƧǳǊȅ ŀǘ ǘƘŜ ŎƻǊƻƴŜǊΩǎ ƻŦŦƛŎŜ ƻƴ WŀƳŜǎ ²ƛƭǎƻƴΣ 
/ƭŀǊŀΩǎ ǎǘŜǇ-father.  Death was due to hemorrhage 
caused by a wound to the throat, which was 
evidently self-inflicted. 
 
James Wilson, who had helped with /ƭŀǊŀΩǎ 

ǳǇōǊƛƴƎƛƴƎΣ ŀƴŘ ǿŀǎ ƭƛǾƛƴƎ ǿƛǘƘ /ƭŀǊŀΩǎ ǎƛǎǘŜǊ ŀƴŘ ƘǳǎōŀƴŘΣ and his wife. His 
suicide must have been a great shock to her. /ƭŀǊŀΩǎ ƳƻǘƘŜǊ ƘŀŘ ŘƛŜŘ ƛƴ мфлуΦ  
 

Clara Culpin  at Noeux-les- Mines 
Cemetery, c1920 

Fred Culpin convalescing in 
Feltham, c1918 
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At the time of the armistice in WW1, rumour has it that during a fire in the 
ǇǳƳǇƛƴƎ ǎǘŀǘƛƻƴ /ƭŀǊŀΩǎ ŦŀǘƘŜǊΣ ¢ƘƻƳŀǎΣ ŦŜƭƭ ǘƘǊƻǳƎƘ ǘƘŜ ŦƭƻƻǊ ōŀŘƭȅ ƛƴƧǳǊƛƴƎ Ƙƛǎ 
legs. This was an injury from which he never recovered and was forced to retire. 
He died a few years later in 1921. 
 
Clara was left a widow with a 16 year old daughter, 
Dorothy, living in a rented property in Hampton 
Road. Dorothy had just left school and was about to 
go to work. They remained here until Dorothy 
married in 1930. Then she went to live with Dorothy 
and her husband in a newly built semi-detached 
house near Chingford Station, ideal for commuting 
to the City for Dorothy and her husband, along with 
many others. 
 
мфоф ǿŀǎ ǘƻ ǎŜŜ ŀƴƻǘƘŜǊ ŎƘŀƴƎŜ ƛƴ /ƭŀǊŀΩǎ ƭƛŦŜΦ tŀƴƛŎ 
ensued when war with Germany was declared. 
There was a mass exodus from London to the countryside as everyone feared a 
German air attack on London. Dorothy and family along with Clara went to stay 
with Minnie, who was living in Cambridge. Nothing happened, so they returned 
home. However, in September 1940, one night from Chingford, a bright red sky 
could be seen over the London docks, due to the results of the persistent German 
bombing. Clara and family immediately evacuated to Swavesey in Cambridgeshire. 
Clara was to die here in September 1944, not knowing whether a grandson, who 
fought at Arnhem in the Parachute Regiment, had survived. Likewise, a second 
grandson was in Burma fighting the Japanese. He too came home safely. 
 
Her final years had been quite peaceful after a life with many tragedies, but if she 
had returned in 1946, Chingford was very much the same, having only suffered 
minor damage due to the Blitz. Most of the farms had been built on. Clara had 
seen Chingford given borough status in 1938, so becoming more of a town than 
village. In 1965 this was lost as Chingford became part of the new London 
Borough of Waltham Forest and was no longer part of Essex but stretched into the 
East End of London. Its population became ethnically very diverse as emigration 
came from much further afield than the home counties, and the rest of England or 
ǘƘŜ .ǊƛǘƛǎƘ LǎƭŜǎΦ bƻƴŜ ƻŦ /ƭŀǊŀΩǎ ŦŀƳƛƭȅ ǊŜƳŀƛƴ ƛƴ /ƘƛƴƎŦƻǊŘ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ нмst century. 
Some of her descendants can still be found in England, but others have migrated 
further and can be discovered overseas in Canada, the United States and 
Australia. 

6 Hampton Road 
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Woodman Arms  - by Gary Stone  
 
The Woodman was a very old inn near Woodman Lane in Sewardstonebury. It had 

adjoining cottages.  

A picture of the pub from 

c1890 shows a large semi-

circular sign over the front 

gate leading to the pub and 

the buildings on the side. It 

is thought that the pub 

served the local farming 

community at the time as 

well as travelers and day 

trippers to the forest. 

Operating by 1841, its first known occupant was Jemima Lane (widow), 44, Beer 

House Keeper in 1851. However, the most notable landlord was John Wicks who 

in October 1877, was fined one pound 19 shillings for serving deficient measures 

to his customers. 

By October 1893, John Wicks was successful in an application for a wine licence. 

(See article below)  

When the pub closed 

around 1901, the West 

Essex golf club opposite, 

were able to obtain a 

drinks licence.  

The pub disappears from 

maps in the early 20th 

century and Woodman 

Lane is the only surviving 

reference to the pub.  

Sewardstonebury is in the postal area of London E4 for Royal Mail, but is in fact in 

the county of Essex with rates payable to Epping Forest District Council. 

 

Woodman c1890 
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The map below in the 1890s shows the pub on Bury Road before Woodman Lane 

was made up. The satellite view on the right shows that the pub was close to the 

corner of Woodman Lane and Bury Road. A large house stands on the former site. 

 

The First Chingford Hall Estate ς by John Conen 

¢ƻŘŀȅΩǎ /ƘƛƴƎŦƻǊŘ Iŀƭƭ 9ǎǘŀǘŜ ƻŎŎǳǇƛŜǎ ǘƘŜ ǎƛǘŜ ƻf what was once a sewage farm. It 

is actually quite a way from where Chingford Hall stood but they could hardly 

have called it the Sewage Farm Estate! It was originally planned by Chingford 

Borough Council to provide 800 homes in a housing complex of three 22-storey 

tower blocks and twelve 6-storey maisonette blocks. The initiative was continued 

by the new London Borough of Waltham Forest after 1965. 

Construction began in 

1967 and was 

completed in 1969. 

The dreadful London-

wide commitment to 

high-rise housing was 

already under scrutiny 

and by the turn of the 

century the estate had 

deteriorated to the 

extent that renewal 

was initiated in 1995 
Chingford Hall Estate 
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and was completed by the spectacular demolition of the three tower blocks in 

2000-2002. A new low-rise estate has taken its place.  

However back in the 1880s the 

Chingford Hall Estate was the name 

given to the farmlands attached to 

Chingford Hall, the original manor of 

/ƘƛƴƎŦƻǊŘ {ǘ tŀǳƭΩǎΦ ¢ƘŜ ŜǎǘŀǘŜ ŎƻǾŜǊŜŘ 

most of the south-western part of South 

Chingford, from Hall Lane down to the 

border with Walthamstow, and from 

Chingford Hall across to Chingford 

Mount Road, although some of the 

estate lay on the east side of Chingford 

Mount Road from the future site of the 

Memorial Park down to the boundary 

with Walthamstow. This could explain 

why Ainslie Wood Road was one of the 

first roads to be developed locally. 

Barbara Ray relates how after the Snell family sold off the Manor of Chingford St. 

tŀǳƭΩǎΣ /ƘƛƴƎŦƻǊd Hall and surrounding lands were bought by Enoch Clarke of 

Watlington, Norfolk. After the death of Mr Clarke and his wife the estate was once 

again up for auction in 1886. In the press on Friday 25 June 1886, it was reported 

that the Chingford Hall Estate had been sold by Messrs. Edwin Fox and Bousfield 

όŀƎŜƴǘǎύ ŦƻǊ ϻмлΣпрлΦ Lǘ ŎƻƴǎƛǎǘŜŘ ƻŦ нмн ŀŎǊŜǎ ŀƴŘ ŀ ΨŎƻƳŦƻǊǘŀōƭŜ ŦŀǊƳƘƻǳǎŜ ŀƴŘ 

ōǳƛƭŘƛƴƎΩΦ ¢ƘŜ Iŀƭƭ ŀƴŘ ǘƘŜ ŜǎǘŀǘŜ ǿŜǊŜ ǎƻƭŘ ǘƻ IŜƴǊȅ aƛŎƘŜƭƭ ŀƴŘ 9ƭƛ ²ƛƭǎƻƴΦ 

Also in 1886, Messrs. Edwin Fox and Bousfield offered the rural sanitary authority 

a piece of land, comprising 42 acres, on the Chingford Hall Estate, for the 

Chingford sewage works. It is not clear if this was part of the land bought by 

Michell and Wilson.  

Henry Bateman Michell was born in 1847 in Yorkshire and married Annie Norton 

Titley in 1875 at St GeorgeΩs Hanover Square, but they divorced in 1888. 

Chingford Hall & Moat 
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In the 1911 census he is living 

with his second wife and 

family in Romford. He gives 

his occupation as surveyor. 

IŜ ƭƛǾŜŘ ŀǘ Ψ9ŀǎǘōǳǊȅΩ ƛƴ 

London Road, Romford, and 

was obviously quite well-to-

do, having three servants.  

In October 1912, an 

application in court was made for confirmation of a Justices' certificate for 

diverting a footpath on the Chingford Hall Estate, Chingford. It was stated that 

some twenty years previously, Eli Wilson and Henry B Michell had bought the 

estate with a view to laying it out as a building estate. The footpath which was the 

subject of the court application was Chase Lane.  

Progress in developing the estate was slow. By World War 1 Hampton Road, 

Sinclair Road, Burnham Road and Westward Road were laid out but very few 

houses had been built. Sewers were authorised for these roads in 1911 and in 

May 1912 Chingford UDC awarded a contract to provide sewerage facilities to W 

& C French for £4,426. Even in 1910 the roads of the estate were said to be a 

quagmire in winter and all the roads were not made up until the 1920s. 

It seems plausible that Mr Michell gave his second name to Bateman Road. His 

wife Annie Norton Titley also could be a source of street names but Henry and 

Annie Michell were divorced in 1888, so this is probably just a coincidence, and in 

any case Titley Close, built in 1962, was named after a Chingford councillor of the 

1950s. 

Eli Wilson died in 1913. Who owned the estate by the time Michell died in 1928 is 

not known - however, most of it must have been sold on to developers or local 

ōǳƛƭŘŜǊǎ ōȅ ǘƘŜ ǘƛƳŜ ƻŦ aƛŎƘŜƭƭΩǎ ŘŜŀǘƘΦ  

Chingford Hall and Chingford Hall Farm were separate buildings on the same site, 

but there were also two farm cottages. How much of a farm business it was after 

the sale in 1886 is not known. 

Chingford Hall Entrance 
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Frederick Tollworthy leased the farm from 1887. In 

October 1888, Mr Tollworthy gave instructions for 

crops of savoys, collards, Brussels sprouts, cabbage, 

sprouting broccoli, and white turnips, on 45 acres, 

to be sold at auction. There was still some farming 

activity in World War 1 ς a few cattle and horses - 

one farmer, one horseman and one stockman are 

listed but who these men were is not known. During 

the war the government sought to increase food 

production and land usage hence this mention in 

the war agricultural census researched by Len Davis.  

Frederick Tollworthy became primarily a contractor, in 1911 being awarded a 

contract for refuse collection in Chingford. There is no evidence that he ever 

owned the Hall or any of the estate, and he had retired and moved on by the time 

World War 2 began. By this time most of the estate was covered by housing, 

although a few horticultural nurseries remained. 

Sources: Barbara Ray Chingford Past, Len Davis CHS Notes vol 7 Extra 54. 

CHS member John Conen has written a new history of the 

London Blitz of 1940-41, focussing on the enormous 

human cost and material destruction that occurred. His 

book describes how the Blitz progressed from the daylight 

attacks of the summer of 1940 through to the major raids 

of the spring of 1941. A chronology of the London Blitz 

forms the centrepiece of this account.  

WƻƘƴΩǎ ōƻƻƪ ƛǎ ƻŦ ǇŀǊǘƛŎǳƭŀǊ ƛƴǘŜǊŜǎǘ ǘƻ ƳŜƳōŜǊǎ ŀǎ ƘŜ 

grew up in Chingford and features it in his book. The death 

and destruction in Chingford is tragic as it was as now 

largely residential. By the end of the war, over 100 citizens had lost their lives as a 

result of air attacks, and virtually all properties in the borough had been damaged. 

WƻƘƴ ǎŀȅǎ Ψ/ƘƛƴƎŦƻǊŘ ƛǎ ŦƻǊǘǳƴŀǘŜ ǘƻ ƘŀǾŜ ƛǘǎ ŎƛǾƛƭ ŘŜŦŜƴŎŜ ƻǊƎŀƴƛǎŀǘƛƻƴ ƛƴ ²ƻǊƭŘ 

War 2 and bombing incidents detailed in Chingford at War by Stanley Warburton.  

Chingford Hall Farm 



 

 

 

 

15  

Memories of Chingford brickworks  - By Georgina Green 

The southern slopes of Pole Hill, Chingford, were enclosed from the forest many 

years ago and a small brickworks was established there in the mid-19th century. 

The railway came to Chingford in 1873 with the original station at Bull Lane (by 

Larkshall Road) but this was extended to the present station site in 1878, the year 

the Epping Forest Act was passed. This made the area more suitable for 

commuter development so roads were planned and houses started to be built in 

what became North Chingford. 

By the turn of the century 

the brickworks covered an 

area of 15 acres, with six 

kilns, an engine house, 

drying house which was 30 

feet by 100 feet, several 

outbuildings and 

brickmaking plant and 

machinery. This was located 

on land to the west of the 

pathway which leads up to 

Pole Hill from the top of 

Kings Head Hill, by Chingford Police Station. 

Dick Richards (who was born in 1907) played around the brickfield area where the 

houses of Woodberry Way are now. 

{ǇŜŀƪƛƴƎ ƛƴ мфур ƘŜ ǊŜŎŀƭƭŜŘΥ ά¢ƘŜǊŜ ǿŜǊŜ 

all these kilns which smoked as they 

baked the bricks - which were then laid 

out in rows. In those days Mornington 

Road was only two-thirds built, with just a 

lane up to the forest fenced in between 

the fields, and Pole Hill was open ground. 

ά²Ŝ ǳǎŜŘ ǘƻ ǿŀƭƪ ǳǇ ǘƘŜ ƭŀƴŜ ōŜǎƛŘŜ ǘƘŜ 

police station at the top of Kings Head Hill 

through to the top, where it met the footpath from the end of Mornington Road. 

Hastings Brickworks c1920 

Garden walls in Mornington Road 
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At the top there used to be a lime pit worked by a blind horse. (The lime was 

brought in for the manufacture of the bricks.) My sister and I used to feel so sorry 

for this horse, he had to walk round and round the pit to keep the lime stirred 

with a huge shovel affair. 

ά¢ƘŜ Ǉƛǘ ǿƻǳƭŘ ƘŀǾŜ ōŜŜƴ ǿƘŜǊŜ ǘƘŜ ƘƻǳǎŜǎ ŀǊŜ ƴƻǿ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ ǎƻǳǘƘ ǎƛŘŜ ƻŦ 

Woodberry Way, right at the top. Over to the west were the brick kilns operated 

ōȅ ǘƘŜ IŀǎǘƛƴƎǎ ŦŀƳƛƭȅ ǿƘƻ ƭƛǾŜŘ ƛƴ /ƻƴƴŀǳƎƘǘ wƻŀŘΦέ 

Mrs Lily Chiswell (née Divall) was born in 1915 and moved to Hawksmouth 

Cottage when she was five. One of her earliest memories was visiting the site of 

the old brickworks with her younger brother in 1924/5. The claypit was there but 

the brickworks were not operating. She remembers that they picked red flowers, 

like delphiniums (rose bay 

willowherb?) 

At that time there were no houses 

between Hawksmouth and the 

corner of what is now Woodberry 

Way, where there was a lodge for 

the big house behind the Police 

Station. 

The scar on the side of the hill where they took clay was still visible in the 1950s 

and older readers may remember sliding down the clay surface on tin trays in the 

summer, or on toboggans when it snowed. Since then it has grassed over and is 

now becoming hidden in woodland. Indeed the whole hillside which was open 

grassland is gradually being encroached by bushes. However visible evidence of 

the old brickworks can still be seen in some of the garden walls in the district. 

They were made of the mis-fired bricks and have quite a distinctive appearance. 

During the First World War Pole Hill was used for an anti-aircraft gun 

emplacement and the thick concrete base of the ammunition store can still be 

seen if you know where to look. An Army hut was constructed for the soldiers 

who manned the gun. 

Vyvyŀƴ wƛŎƘŀǊŘǎΣ ŀ ǘŜŀŎƘŜǊ ŦǊƻƳ .ŀƴŎǊƻŦǘΩǎ {ŎƘƻƻƭΣ ŀƭǎƻ ƘŀŘ ŀ ǿƻƻŘŜƴ Ƙǳǘ ŦǳǊǘƘŜǊ 

round the hill and in the 1920s his friend T.E. Lawrence (of Arabia) purchased the 

land of Pole Hill ς ōǳǘ ǘƘŀǘΩǎ ŀƴƻǘƘŜǊ ǎǘƻǊȅΦ 

Pole Hill, looking across the claypit, July 1981 


